#### NO. 70069-3

# COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

JOJO EJONGA, Appellant,

#### AMENDED BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Mitch Harrison

Attorney for Appellant

#### A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1 1

- Mr. Ejonga received ineffective assistance of counsel when
   Defense Counsel put forth an insanity defense that was absolutely certain to fail.
- 2. Mr. Ejonga received ineffective assistance of counsel when Defense Counsel erred in the execution of the insanity defense by opting to use an expert wholly lacking in credibility.
- 3. Mr. Ejonga was prejudiced when the video footage that was recorded during his detention in the police vehicle, shortly after the incident, was intentionally destroyed.

#### **B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

- Whether a defendant receives ineffective assistance of counsel when Defense Counsels puts forth a hopeless defense while ignoring a plausible defense.
- Whether a defendant receives ineffective assistance of counsel when Defense Counsel puts forth an insanity defense, but uses an expert the jury could not believe.
- 3. Whether a defendant is prejudiced by the destruction of the only recorded evidence of the defendant's state of mind immediately after the incident in question.

#### C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On a May evening, Mr. Ejonga stabbed three women—fortunately all three survived—with a kitchen knife in an apartment parking lot. As a result of this incident, Mr. Ejonga was convicted of three counts of Attempted Murder in the First Degree and three Counts of Assault in the First Degree.

#### Background

Growing up in the Democratic Republic of the Congo, Mr. Ejonga dealt with both life changing injuries and physical violence at the hands of the government. Days after he was born, Mr. Ejonga contracted cerebral malaria. Later, as a boy, Mr. Ejonga fell off a balcony and was found unconscious for an unknown period of time. At the hospital, Mr. Ejonga was placed on a breathing machine and was unable to feed himself. Upon returning home, Mr. Ejonga's mother had to teach him how to speak again. Immediately noticeable is a scar that persists to this day, on his forehead.

From that point in time, Mr. Ejonga suffered both physical and mental harms. Upon returning home from the hospital, Mr. Ejonga's

1 .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> RP 1/17 at 34.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> RP 1/23 at 76.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> RP 1/23 at 76

<sup>4</sup> RP 1/23 at 77.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> RP 1/23 at 86.

mother recalled him exhibiting behavioral problems.<sup>6</sup> Mr. Ejonga was angrier and more irritable, he had persistent headaches and fainting spells, he became more impulsive and his attitude and concentration in school became altered.<sup>7</sup>

In 2005, Mr. Ejonga's mother was arrested and had to flee the county in order to escape the increasingly violent military. Around this time, Mr. Ejonga suffered another blow to his head when a soldier, during a raid of Mr. Ejonga's home, struck him with the butt of his rifle, knocking Mr. Ejonga unconscious. In 2006, Mr. Ejonga was finally able to reunite with his mother, who was hiding in Nigeria. By this point, Mr. Ejonga was a different person, plagued with nightmares and flashbacks.

Mr. Ejonga and his mother were finally able to find refuge in the United States around February 2010. <sup>12</sup> However, Mr. Ejonga's troubles persisted. Shortly after his arrival, Mr. Ejonga was rushed to the ER with complaints of headaches, and stomach and back pains. <sup>13</sup> When Mr. Ejonga was finally seen by a doctor, he was hyperventilating and sweating

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> RP 1/23 at 86.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> RP 1/23 at 86.

<sup>8</sup> RP 1/23 at 86.

<sup>9</sup> RP 1/23 at 87.

<sup>10</sup> RP 1/23 at 87.

<sup>11</sup> RP 1/23 at 87.

<sup>12</sup> RP 1/23 at 88.

<sup>13</sup> RP 1/23 at 88.

heavily.<sup>14</sup> Although the ER doctor could not find a source for the pain, Mr. Ejonga was given a multitude of drugs, including Ativan (a sedative), Dilaudid and Toradol (pain medications), and Zofran (another pain-reliever/anti-inflammatory).<sup>15</sup>

Despite his medical issues, Mr. Ejonga immediately tried to assimilate. Mr. Ejonga made friends with Mr. Bundu Koroma, who says that Mr. Ejonga was overall pleasant, but noted that Mr. Ejonga mentioned he wanted to die at times. <sup>16</sup> On other occasions, Mr. Koroma observed Mr. Ejonga fainting without warning or cause. <sup>17</sup>

Another classmate, Valerie Maganya, had a chance to get to know Mr. Ejonga well; Mr. Ejonga lived with Ms. Maganya's family for some period of time. <sup>18</sup> Valerie felt that overall Mr. Ejonga was normal, except for his secretive nature. <sup>19</sup> Ms. Maganya recalls that Mr. Ejonga talked about learning to be sneaky while living in Nigeria, and that Nigerians were not trustworthy. <sup>20</sup>

Other times, Mr. Ejonga had mood swings, and he would go from "quite happy and friendly" to cold and angry. 21 When Mr. Ejonga was

<sup>14</sup> RP 1/23 at 88.

<sup>15</sup> RP 1/23 at 88.

<sup>16</sup> RP 1/23 at 78.

<sup>17</sup> RP 1/23 at 79.

<sup>18</sup> RP 1/8 at 31.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> RP 1/8 at 34.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> RP 1/8 at 35.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> RP 1/9 at 35-36.

angry, he would scold Ms. Maganya for dancing with her friends,<sup>22</sup> and when in a good mood, Mr. Ejonga had a habit of saying things that seemed "childish" and odd.<sup>23</sup> Often unprovoked, Mr. Ejonga would inappropriately comment about animals or kids in such a manner that Ms. Manga felt "very uncomfortable."

During the time Ms. Maganya knew Mr. Ejonga, there were no noteworthy events, until her brother's birthday party. At the May 2011 party, Ms. Maganya witnessed Mr. Ejonga jump into her brother's car even though he could not drive. <sup>25</sup> Mr. Ejonga then backed up the car into Ms. Maganya's vehicle. <sup>26</sup> In response, Mr. Ejonga put the car into drive and jumped out, lying on the ground and pretending to be dead. <sup>27</sup>

Afterwards, Ms. Maganya posted on Facebook about her displeasure of Mr. Ejonga's actions. Mr. Ejonga replied to this post in a private message sent to Ms. Maganya, asking that she take down the message in return for Mr. Ejonga paying for the damage he caused to her car and for some money he stole earlier.<sup>28</sup>

<sup>22</sup> RP 1/9 at 35-36.

1 1

<sup>23</sup> RP 1/9 at 47.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> RP 1/9 at 66.

<sup>25</sup> RP 1/9 at 22-23.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> RP 1/8 at 40.

<sup>27</sup> RP 1/8 at 41.

<sup>28</sup> RP 1/9 at 21.

#### The Attack

On May 8, 2011, approximately one week after the Facebook conversation, Mr. Ejonga called Ms. Maganya and asked if she wanted to come and pick up her money.<sup>29</sup> Around 8:00 pm that day, Mr. Ejonga began calling Ms. Maganya; in total he called three times throughout the night.<sup>30</sup> Sometime between 8:30 and 9:00 pm, Ms. Mangaya arrived at the parking lot in front of Mr. Ejonga's apartment.<sup>31</sup> When the car pulled up, Mr. Ejonga was upset that Ms. Mangaya had brought along her mother and a friend, Tuwalole Bwamba, but he proceeded to get in the car anyway.<sup>32</sup>

Sitting behind Ms. Maganya, Mr. Ejonga informed the passengers that his money was being held by his cousin in Des Moines and they would have to drive there to collect it.<sup>33</sup> Ms. Bwamba recalled that Mr. Ejonga appeared to be acting normally when he got in the car.<sup>34</sup> Ultimately, Mr. Ejonga directed the car to a dark parking lot where Mr. Ejonga told them to park.<sup>35</sup>

<sup>29</sup> RP 1/9 at 22-23.

<sup>30</sup> RP 1/9 at 48.

<sup>31</sup> RP 1/9 at 23.

<sup>32</sup> RP 1/9 at 24.

<sup>33</sup> RP 1/9 at 24-25.

<sup>34</sup> RP 1/9 at 102.

<sup>35</sup> RP 1/9 at 25.

Upon arrival, Mr. Ejonga began to fidget. He told Ms. Maganya that his cousin would be out shortly with the money, and then he stepped out to make a phone call. Mr. Ejonga actually called Ms. Bwamba and claimed it was a mistake as he meant to dial his cousin. He then grabbed hold of the rear driver's side window, which was not working correctly, and pulled it up. Mr. Ejonga got back in the car and asked the other passengers what they were doing.

The three passengers mentioned that they were browsing

Facebook, then, without provocation, Mr. Ejonga began stabbing the three women inside the car.<sup>39</sup> Ms. Mangaya later recalled that Mr. Ejonga did not seem to be in control of himself.<sup>40</sup> During the attack, Mr. Ejonga's face was blank and he was biting his tongue.<sup>41</sup> Later, she remembered seeing Mr. Ejonga carrying a kitchen knife wrapped in a white towel.<sup>42</sup>

Mr. Ejonga recalled seeing different people in the car chasing him with a knife and gun, and perceived himself to be outside the car. 43 Mr. Ejonga recalls feeling as if he had been struck in the head again, but this

<sup>36</sup> RP 1/9 at 25.

<sup>37</sup> RP 1/9 at 25.

<sup>38</sup> RP 1/9 at 25.

<sup>39</sup> RP 1/9 at 26.

<sup>40</sup> RP 1/9 at 55.

<sup>41</sup> RP 1/9 at 56.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> RP 1/9 at 55.

<sup>43</sup> RP 1/23 at 95.

time his body became energized.<sup>44</sup> He was no longer in the car with Ms. Mangaya; he was being chased by people carrying knives and guns, while his car was suddenly filled with strange men.<sup>45</sup> He recalls that the people chasing him were yelling unintelligible things, which sounded like Swahili—the language he heard when he was struck with the rifle as a child and the language he heard spoken between the men who killed his father.<sup>46</sup>

#### **Investigation and Trial**

While detained, Mr. Ejonga was recorded by Officer J. Coppadae in his police vehicle. During the detention, Mr. Ejonga made statements regarding his present state of mind and his belief that he was acting out of self-defense. Upon arrival at the jail, Mr. Ejonga mentioned being suicidal and having a history of panic attacks, but that he was not on any medications. Three days later the jail staff was put on alert as Mr. Ejonga was found in his cell, not moving and unresponsive to moderate pain cues; his speech was slow and unclear. A week after Mr. Ejonga first arrived, a

<sup>44</sup> RP 1/23 at 95.

<sup>45</sup> RP 1/23 at 94-95.

<sup>46</sup> RP 1/23 at 98-100.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> RP 1/23 at 102-103.

<sup>48</sup> RP 1/23 at 104.

jail staff member e-mailed the psychiatric nurse that Mr. Ejonga had been hearing voices.<sup>49</sup>

On May 12, 2011, Mr. Ejonga subpoenaed the Des Moines police department and Officer J. Coppadae for evidence relating to the events of May 8, including the video footage taken during Mr. Ejonga's detention. The subpoena included any 911 tapes, written or recorded statements and the substance of any oral statements made by the defendant. After receiving the subpoena but before producing the evidence in discovery, the Des Moines police department and Officer J. Coppadae destroyed the video footage.

When the doctor visited Mr. Ejonga on May 17, Mr. Ejonga continued to report some symptoms while denying others. Mr. Ejonga refused to admit his feelings of suicide or hearing voices, but admitted that his symptoms of anxiety and panic were chronic. At this time, Mr. Ejonga was prescribed Zoloft. The next day, Mr. Ejonga reported trouble sleeping; he was seeing people in his cell that wanted to cause him harm, even when his eyes were open. His medical request also made mention of hearing voices from his past, when his family was being attacked in their home country.

<sup>49</sup> RP 1/23 at 105.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> RP 1/23 at 105-106.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> RP 1/23 at 109.

<sup>52</sup> RP 1/23 at 106.

Later Mr. Ejonga reported nightmares and intrusive imagery. The medical professional believed these delusions could be related to PTSD, and Mr. Ejonga was proscribed Prazosin.<sup>53</sup> The medical staff followed up because Mr. Ejonga was still hearing voices; although he reported the Zoloft helped.<sup>54</sup>

A psychiatric nurse practitioner later met with Mr. Ejonga. Mr. Ejonga reporting hearing voices and feeling afraid. <sup>55</sup> After another visit, the medical staff determined Mr. Ejonga's hearing voices was generalized anxiety and PTSD-related symptoms. <sup>56</sup> The reports of nightmares did not begin to abate until the end of July. <sup>57</sup>

By September 1, Mr. Ejonga was denying his psychosis but was still struggling with voices and flashbacks that worsened when speaking with his lawyer. <sup>58</sup> On December 1, Mr. Ejonga was hearing voices and having flashbacks while being held in the downtown jail. He complained to the nurse practitioner that his hand was hurting from a microchip that was placed inside of him. Mr. Ejonga mentioned that he may have ended up in this situation because he unknowingly ingested PCP at some point. <sup>59</sup>

53 RP 1/23 at 108.

<sup>54</sup> RP 1/23 at 109.

<sup>55</sup> RP 1/23 at 105-10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>56</sup> RP 1/23 at 110.

RP 1/23 at 110-11

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>58</sup> RP 1/23 at 111.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> RP 1/23 at 111-12.

The nurse practitioner's notes reflect that that Mr. Ejonga exhibited "paranoia, appears logical at times, engaged in interview, frustrated." She diagnosed Mr. Ejonga with PTSD and gave him Abilify, an anti-psychotic useful for treating mood disorders and PTSD.<sup>60</sup>

Overall, Mr. Ejonga was prescribed a variety of medications to help him cope with his symptoms. Mr. Ejonga reported hallucinations, a lack of sleep, depression, and auditory hallucinations, such as voices, babies crying, dogs barking and cats screaming. Altogether, he was prescribed Zoloft, Elavil, Prazosin for PTSD and lithium for mood disorders. It was only after being put on this cocktail that Mr. Ejonga reported feeling more settled, calm, and generally less upset, although the symptoms and hallucinations never disappeared.

At trial, Mr. Ejonga's trial attorney put forth an insanity defense. The non-expert witnesses' collective testimony established undisputed facts regarding the time leading up to the attack, the attack itself, and the attack's aftermath. Due to the insanity defense, the expert witnesses analyzed whether Mr. Ejonga met the M'Naghten test.

60 RP 1/23 at 112.

<sup>61</sup> RP 1/23 at 114-18

<sup>62</sup> RP 1/17 at 87-88.

<sup>63</sup> RP 1/17 at 88.

The defense expert, Dr. Kroll testified first. He diagnosed Mr. Ejonga with PTSD and a delusional disorder. 64 Dr. Kroll based these diagnoses on Mr. Ejonga's extensive history of symptoms and opined that Mr. Ejonga met the insanity standard.

However, on cross-examination, the State revealed several gaping holes in Dr. Kroll's testimony. Dr. Kroll admitted that none of his diagnoses carried symptoms indicating a failure to understand the difference between right and wrong. Additionally, Dr. Kroll admitted that the facts that Mr. Ejonga brought a knife, half pair of scissors, rubber gloves, and a change of clothes and fled the scene were important facts in determining whether Mr. Ejonga knew the difference between right and wrong. Aroll was also impeached with statements from a pre-trail interview where he could not accurately state and separate Washington's standards for insanity and diminished capacity. Finally, the State elicited evidence belying a thorough psychological analysis: Dr. Kroll did not interview other people other than Mr. Ejonga's mother, he completed his opinion before he received the MRI and EEG results, and the prosecutor used a more recent version of the DSM than Dr. Kroll.

-

<sup>64</sup> RP 1/17 at 67.

<sup>65</sup> RP 1/22 at 10.

<sup>66</sup> RP 1/22 at 55-56

<sup>67</sup> RP 1/22 at 6-8.

<sup>68</sup> RP 1/22 at 17.

Next, Dr. McClung, the State's expert witness, testified that Mr. Ejonga did not meet the insanity standard. Dr. McClung found it probable that Mr. Ejonga suffered from PTSD and antisocial personality traits.<sup>69</sup> Dr. McClung testified that most people who suffer from PTSD are not violent unless antisocial personality traits are also present.<sup>70</sup> Moreover, Dr. McClung harbored strong suspicions that malingering accounted for many of Mr. Ejonga's symptoms. As a consequence, Dr. McClung opined that Mr. Ejonga's PTSD did not cause him to commit the crime<sup>71</sup> nor did Mr. Ejonga meet the insanity standard.<sup>72</sup>

After the conclusion of closing arguments, Mr. Ejonga was convicted on three counts of First Degree Attempted Murder and three counts of First Degree Assault. Accordingly, Mr. Ejonga appeals his convictions.

#### D. ARGUMENT

At trial, Defense Counsel focused on an insanity defense even though a diminished capacity defense was available. Based on the testimony of the defense expert, the insanity defense had absolutely no chance of success. Putting forth a defense completely certain to fail resulted in the ineffective assistance of counsel. This deficient

70 RP 1/23 at 37-38

<sup>69</sup> RP 1/23 at 34.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>71</sup> RP 1/23 at 59-60.

<sup>72</sup> RP 1/23 at 68.

representation prejudiced Mr. Ejonga because a diminished capacity defense with a self-defense instruction had a reasonable probability of success. Therefore, Mr. Ejonga respectfully requests this court to reverse his convictions and remand for a new trial.

## I. THE INSANITY DEFENSE ARGUED BY DEFENSE COUNSEL HAD ZERO CHANCE OF SUCCESS.

Mr. Ejonga's trial attorney put forth an insanity defense even though it had no chance to succeed. First, the expert produced by Defense Counsel acknowledged that Mr. Ejonga did not meet the legal standard of insanity. Next, Mr. Ejonga's actions leading up the assault strongly pointed away from insanity.

a. The Defense Expert Conceded that Mr. Ejonga's Diagnosed Mental Conditions Failed to Meet the Insanity Standard

In Washington, to succeed on an insanity the defense, the defendant must demonstrate that a mental disease or defect either (1) prevented the defendant from perceiving the nature and quality of the act charged, or (2) prevented the defendant from being able to determine right from wrong regarding the act charged. 73 This standard is known as the M'Naghten test. 74 Washington applies this test rigorously. 75 The question

<sup>74</sup> State v. Thomas, 8 Wn. App. 495, 496, 507 P.2d 153, 154 (1973).
 <sup>75</sup> See State v. Crenshaw, 98 Wn.2d 789, 793, 659 P.2d 488 (1983).

is whether the defendant was mentally impaired at the time of the act.<sup>76</sup> The defendant is required to establish the insanity defense by a preponderance of the evidence.<sup>77</sup>

The insanity defense is a high hurdle for the defendant to cross.

Under the first option, proving that the defendant was significantly limited in the ability to perceive the nature and quality of an act is not sufficient; the defendant must show total inability to perceive. To succeed under the second option, the defendant must show that he or she could not understand that the act was legally or morally wrong.

In this case, defense counsel opted to present an insanity defense. However, it would have been impossible for the jury to find Mr. Ejonga was legally insane because the defense's own expert equivocated on his stance that Mr. Ejonga was legally insane and, when pressed, the defense expert demonstrated ignorance of the precise legal standard.

The defense expert, Dr. Kroll, testified on direct examination that Mr. Ejonga was legally insane at the time he committed the act. Dr. Kroll stated that Mr. Ejonga both was unable to know right from wrong and to appreciate the nature of his actions—satisfying either prong of the insanity

<sup>78</sup> State v. Jamison, 94 Wn.2d 663, 619 P.2d 352 (1980).

<sup>76</sup> State v. Jamison, 94 Wn.2d 663, 619 P.2d 352 (1980).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>77</sup> RCW 9A.12.010(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>79</sup> State v. Chanthabouly, 164 Wn. App. 104, 131, 262 P.3d 144 (2011); RCW 9A.12.010(1)(b).

standard.<sup>80</sup> The expert also claimed that he held this opinion to a reasonable degree of medical certainty.<sup>81</sup>

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