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

jury even gets a chance to consider the issue, upon request, the 

trial judge must weigh the evidence and grant a motion for acquittal 

if the evidence preponderates in the defendant's favor. RCW 

10.77.080; State v. Sommerville, 111 Wn.2d 524, 532, 760 P.2d 

932 (1988). Only if the court weighs the evidence and is not 

satisfied that acquittal by reason of insanity is warranted, is the 

question submitted to the jury to decide. Sommerville, 111 Wn.2d 

at 532 . 

The concept of diminished capacity also relates to a mental 

disorder or illness of a defendant. State v. Gough, 53 Wn. App. 

619,622,768 P.2d 1028, rev. denied, 112 Wn .2d 1026 (1989). Not 

a true "affirmative defense," when diminished capacity is pled as a 

defense it is treated as a rule of evidence that allows the defense to 

introduce evidence relevant to the defendant's state of mind. State 

v. Stumpf, 64 Wn. App. 522, 525 n.2, 827 P.2d 294 (1992) (citing 

4 Referring to M'Naghten's Case, 10 Clark & Fin. 200, 8 Eng. Rep. 718 (1843) . 
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John Q . La Fond & Kimberly A. Gaddis, Washington's Diminished 

Capacity Defense Under Attack, 13 U. Puget Sound L.Rev. 1, 22 

(1989)) . 

Essentially, pleading diminished capacity allows the defense 

to introduce evidence of a mental disorder that logically tends to 

show that the defendant was not capable of possessing the 

required mens rea of the crime charged. 5 Stumpf, 64 Wn. App. at 

525. Thus, when a defendant presents substantial evidence of a 

mental illness or disorder and the evidence logically and reasonably 

connects the defendant's alleged mental condition with the inability 

to form the mental state necessary to commit the charged crime, a 

defendant is entitled to a diminished capacity jury instruction. State 

v. Cienfuegos, 144 Wn.2d 222, 227, 25 P.3d 1011 (2001); State v. 

Tilton, 149 Wn.2d 775, 784, 72 P.3d 735 (2003). 

Finally, U[t]o maintain a diminished capacity defense, a 

defendant must produce expert testimony demonstrating that a 

5 Here, to prove first-degree assault, the State was required to prove that the 
defendant intended to assault each victim and that he intended to inflict great 
bodily harm. RCW 9A.36.011(1)(a) , (c) ; CP 553-56, 704. To prove attempted 
first-degree murder, the State was required to prove that the defendant had the 
premeditated intent to cause the death of each victim. RCW 9A.32.030(1 )(a) ; 
CP 553-56, 694. "Intent" means to act with the objective or purpose to 
accomplish a result that constitutes a crime. RCW 9A.08.010(1)(a); CP 692. 
"Premeditation" is defined as the deliberate formation of and reflection upon the 
intent to take a human life and involves the mental process of thinking 
beforehand, deliberation, reflection , weighing or reasoning for a period of time, 
however short. Statev. Hoffman, 116Wn.2d 51 , 83, 804 P.2d 577 (1991) . 
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mental disorder, not amounting to insanity, impaired the 

defendant's ability to form the culpable mental state to commit the 

crime charged." State v. Atsbeha, 142 Wn.2d 904, 914, 16 P.3d 

626 (2001). 

Here, contrary to the defendant's assertion on appeal, from 

the very beginning, his trial counsel vigorously and equally pursued 

both an insanity defense and a diminished capacity defense. 

Defense counsel's trial memorandum notified the court that the 

defense would be pursuing "insanity, and diminished capacity" and 

that Doctor Jerome Kroll would be testifying as an expert witness. 

CP 43. The defense provided the court with a summary of the 

defendant's personal and mental health background, as well as 

Dr. Kroll's full mental health evaluation of the defendant. CP 44-47, 

64-87. Defense counsel proposed, and the court gave, WPIC 

18.20, the approved diminished capacity jury instruction.6 Defense 

counsel also proposed, and the court gave, WPIC 20.01, 

6 See CP 237 (defense proposed instruction) and CP 686 (Jury Instruction # 7). 
CP 686, the instruction read to the jury provided as follows: 

Evidence of mental illness or disorder may be taken into consideration in 
determining whether the defendant had the capacity to form the intent to 
inflict great bodily harm or the premeditated intent to kill. 
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the approved instruction defining insanitY,7 and WPIC 20.02, the 

approved insanity jury instruction pertaining to the burden of proof.8 

Further, defense counsel filed a motion that required the trial court 

to independently review the evidence and make a determination as 

to whether the defendant was not guilty by reason of insanity. 

CP 24-26. 

On appeal, the defendant contends that defense counsel 

presented a defense that was certain to fail (insanity) while ignoring 

a more plausible defense (diminished capacity) and that this 

constitutes ineffective assistance of counsel. Def. br. at 1. This is 

incorrect. Nowhere in the record is it supported that the defense 

pursued insanity to a greater degree than diminished capacity. The 

7 See CP 238 (defense proposed instruction) and CP 683 (Jury Instruction # 4). 
CP 683, the instruction read to the jury provided as follows: 

In addition to the plea of not guilty, the defendant has entered a plea of 
insanity existing at the time of the act charged. Insanity existing at the 
time of the commission of the act charged is a defense. For a defendant 
to be found not guilty by reason of insanity you must find that, as a result 
of mental disease or defect, the defendant's mind was affected to such 
an extent that the defendant was unable to perceive the nature and 
quality of the acts with which the defendant is charged or was unable to 
tell right from wrong with reference to the particular acts with which the 
defendant is charged. 

8 See CP 239 (defense proposed instruction) and CP 684 (Jury Instruction # 5). 
CP 684, the instruction read to the jury provided as follows: 

The burden is on the defendant to establish the defense of insanity by a 
preponderance of the evidence. Preponderance of the evidence means 
that you must be persuaded, considering all the evidence in the case, 
that it is more probably true than not true. If you find that the defendant 
has established this defense, it will be your duty to return a verdict of not 
guilty by reason of insanity. 
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two defenses relied on the exact same evidence - the testimony of 

Dr. Kroll as applied to the facts of the case, and defense counsel 

pursued both defenses equally. 

Dr. Kroll testified that he was hired by defense counsel to do 

a full "psychiatric assessment" of the defendant and "assess as 

best as one can what his mental status was at the time of the 

incident, what were the events in his childhood leading up to his 

present situation, and to render an opinion of whether he fits within 

the not guilty by reason of insanity standard or diminished capacity 

under the laws of the State of Washington." 1/17 RP 22. In 

concluding his testimony regarding his evaluation of the defendant, 

Dr. Kroll opined that "at the time of the incident, because of his 

abnormal mental state, he was unable to appreciate the difference 

between right and wrong and to appreciate the nature of his actions 

as to how we, as we really see it, so he was unable to know right 

and wrong and to know the nature of his actions. That would be 

the Washington State insanity standards." 1/17 RP 100. Asked 

about the defendant's ability to form the requisite intent for each 

crime (i.e., diminished capacity) , Dr. Kroll opined that "at the time of 

the incident, his mental state was such that he was unable to form 
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a criminal intent to commit a crime. The intention was not to 

commit a crime because he wasn't able." 1/17 RP 100. 

In closing, defense counsel adeptly discussed both 

diminished capacity and insanity, telling the jury that it had to 

determine what the defendant's "mental state" was at the time of 

the acts. 1/28 RP 79, also 1/28 RP 93,95-96. After discussing all 

the facts of the case, and Dr. Kroll's testimony, counsel astutely 

discussed diminished capacity first -- a defense that if successful 

would result in a complete acquittal. 1/28 RP 107. Counsel then 

told the jury that if it found the defendant could form the requisite 

intent to commit the crime, then it still turn to determine whether the 

defendant was insane at the time he committed the acts -- a 

defense that would result in an acquittal but potentially result in 

confinement at a mental hospital. 1/28 RP 110. 

In short, the defendant's claim that trial counsel pursued an 

insanity defense over a diminished capacity defense, is belied by 

the record . In any event, even if defense counsel had pursued one 

mental defense more aggressively than another mental defense, 

this would have been a matter of legitimate trial strategy of which 

an ineffective assistance of counsel claim cannot succeed. Cross, 

156 Wn .2d at 606 (actions taken or avoided and the methodology 
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employed are matters of trial tactics that rest with the sound 

judgment of the attorney); Byrd, 30 Wn. App. at 799 (legitimate trial 

tactics will not support claim of ineffective assistance). 

4. THE DEFENDANT'S MISGUIDED SELF-DEFENSE I 
DIMINISHED CAPACITY ARGUMENT 

part of the defendant's argument hinges on his assertion that 

he was entitled to a self-defense instruction and that this would 

have made the diminished capacity defense more viable. Def. br. 

at 12. This assertion is misguided. The defendant did not testify 

and the substantive evidence admitted at trial did not support the 

giving of a self-defense instruction. 

Self-defense is a creation of statute and case law. The 

statute in question is RCW 9A.16.050, the self-defense statute 

pertaining to murder.9 Under the statute, a person is justified in 

using deadly force in self-defense only if: (1) the person 

subjectively feared that he or she was in imminent danger of death 

or great personal injury; (2) this belief was objectively reasonable; 

(3) the person exercised no greater force than was reasonably 

necessary; and (4) the defendant was not the aggressor. 

State v. Read, 147 Wn.2d 238, 243-44, 53 P.3d 26 (2002) ; 

9 The justifiable use of deadly force for attempted murder is the same as it is for 
murder. State v. Cowen, 87 Wn. App. 45, 53, 939 P.2d 1249 (1997). 
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State v. Callahan, 87 Wn. App. 925, 929, 943 P.2d 676 (1997). In 

order to raise self-defense before the jury, a defendant bears the 

initial burden of producing credible evidence tending to prove each 

statutory element of the defense. State v. McCullum, 98 Wn.2d 

484,488,656 P.2d 1064 (1983); State v. Acosta, 101 Wn.2d 612, 

619,683 P.2d 1069 (1984). 

There is a subjective component to the test for self-defense -

- whether the defendant actually feared death or great personal 

injury; and an objective component -- whether the defendant's fear 

of harm was reasonable under the circumstances. State v. Ra, 144 

Wn. App. 688, 706, 175 P.3d 609 (citing Read, 147 Wn.2d at 242), 

rev. denied, 164 Wn.2d 1016 (2008) . In other words, a person's 

right to use force is dependent upon what a reasonably cautious 

and prudent person in similar circumstances would have done and 

whether he reasonably believed he was in danger of bodily harm.lO 

State v. Theroff, 95 Wn.2d 385, 390, 622 P.2d 1240 (1980). 

Additionally, self-defense finds its "basis in necessity and 

generally ends with the cessation of the exigent circumstances 

10 "The objective portion of the inquiry serves the crucial function of providing an 
external standard. Without it, a jury would be forced to evaluate the defendant's 
actions in the vacuum of the defendant's own subjective perceptions. In essence, 
self-defense would always justify homicide so long as the defendant was true to 
his or her own internal beliefs." State v. Janes, 121 Wn.2d 220, 239, 850 P.2d 
495 (1993). 
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which gave rise to the defensive act." Janes, 121 Wn.2d at 237 

(citing United States v. Peterson, 483 F.2d 1222, 1229 (D.C. Cir.), 

cert. denied, 414 U.S. 1007 (1973). The force used must be no 

more than is necessary to effect the purpose intended and no 

reasonable effective alternative to the use of force appeared to 

exist. State v. Brightman, 155 Wn.2d 506, 520,122 P.3d 150 

(2005); RCW 9A.16.01 0(1). 

With these standards in mind, the defendant's argument 

fails . First, the defendant fails to mention that he did not testify, 

thus, he was required to produce other evidence that would support 

the giving of a self-defense instruction. The actual facts of the 

crime do not support a self-defense claim. The substantive facts 

show that the defendant obtained and concealed on his person a 

knife and change of clothing and that he then lured the main 

intended victim, Valerie Maganya, to him on a ruse and when she 

showed up with her mother and her brother's girlfriend, he tricked 

them into driving to a different location where he proceeded to stab 

the three unarmed and defenseless women. 

The "facts" the defendant attempts to rely on to support his 

position that he was entitled to a self-defense instruction is the 

testimony of the experts when they related the story as told to them 
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by the defendant in conducting their psychiatric examinations. One 

of the problems with this argument is that it relies on facts that are 

not substantive evidence. Another problem is that even under the 

facts the defendant attempts to rely, he would not have been 

entitled to a self-defense instruction had he requested one. 

Hearsay is "a statement, other than one made by the 

declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence 

to prove the truth of the matter asserted ." ER 801 (c). The hearsay 

rule excludes hearsay from being admitted as evidence except as 

specifically provided by the rules of evidence, court rules, or 

statute. ER 802. The theory of the hearsay rule is that cross 

examination is the best way to reveal whatever untrustworthiness 

lies beneath the assertions of a witness. State v. Chapin, 118 

Wn.2d 681, 685, 826 P.2d 194 (1992) (citing 5 J. Wigmore, 

Evidence § 1362, at 3 (Chadbourn rev. 1974)). The hearsay rule 

thus represents "a rule rejecting assertions, offered testimonially, 

which have not been in some way subjected to the test of 

cross-examination ." 19.:. 

ER 703 allows expert witnesses to base their opinions on 

facts otherwise inadmissible as long as the facts are "of a type 

reasonably relied upon by experts in the particular field in forming 
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opinions or inferences upon the subject." State v. Wineberg, 74 

Wn.2d 372, 384,444 P.2d 787 (1968). The admission of these 

facts, however, is not proof of them. 

[I]f an expert states the ground upon which his opinion 
is based, his explanation is not proof of the facts which 
he says he took into consideration. His explanation 
merely discloses the basis of his opinion in substantially 
the same manner as if he had answered a hypothetical 
question. It is an illustration of the kind of evidence 
which can serve multiple purposes and is admitted for a 
single, limited purpose only. 

Group Health Coop. of Puget Sound, Inc. v. Dep't of Revenue, 106 

Wn.2d 391, 399-400, 722 P.2d 787 (1986) (citations omitted) 

(quoting State v. Wineberg, 74 Wn.2d at 382). 

In sum, out-of-court statements of a defendant on which an 

expert bases his opinion are not admitted as substantive proof, i.e., 

the truth of the matter asserted. State v. Lucas, 167 Wn. App. 100, 

109-10,271 P.3d 394 (2012) (diminished capacity defense). 

Rather, the out-of-court statements are offered only for the limited 

purpose of explaining the expert's opinion. !9.,. (citing 5D Karl B. 

Tegland, Washington Practice: Courtroom Handbook on 

Washington Evidence author's cmts . at 387, 400 (2011-2012 ed.); 

see also State v. Anderson, 44 Wn. App. 644, 652-53, 723 P.2d 

464 (1986) (court did not abuse its discretion in allowing the State's 
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experts to testify about Anderson's out-of-court statements to them 

because the statements were not offered to prove the truth of the 

matter asserted}, rev. dismissed as moot, 109 Wn.2d 1015 (1987). 

Here, with the defendant having not testified and his 

statements to his expert and the State's expert not being admitted 

for the truth of the matter asserted, there is no evidence that would 

have supported the giving of a self-defense instruction . Further,

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